
 

REGULAR MEETING 

May 06, 2024 
10:00 AM 

 
Albany-Dougherty Government Center 
222 Pine Ave, Room 100, Albany, GA 31701 

 

 
AGENDA 

The public will also have access to the live meeting by accessing the Dougherty County Georgia 
Government Facebook page at facebook.com/Dougherty.ga.us or viewing the public 
government access channel (Channel 16). 

1. Call the meeting to order by Chairman Lorenzo Heard. 

2. Roll Call. 

3. Invocation. 

4. Pledge of Allegiance. 

5. Minutes. 

a. Consider for action the Minutes of April 1st Regular Meeting, April 8th Work Session, 
and April 8th Special Called Meeting.  ACTION: 

6. Delegations (The Commission will hear comments on those items pertaining to Dougherty 
County for which a public hearing has not been held or scheduled. Please be brief, to the 
point, and considerate of time for others). 

a. Margaret Holbrook, Interim County Extension Coordinator present to update the 
Commission with the quarterly report. 

7. Zoning. 

a. Tommy Crosby, applicant and owner (24-021) requests to rezone a 3.69-acre parcel 
from AG (Agricultural District) and C-2 (General Mixed-Use Business District) to C-3 
(Commercial District). The rezoning would allow for the operation of a manufactured 
home sales and repair business. The property address is 1932 Liberty Expressway. 
The Planning Commission recommends approval.  Angel Gray, Deputy Planning 
Director will address.  

  

1



8. Purchases. 

a. Consider for action the recommendation from the Dougherty County Sheriff's Office to 
purchase one (1) 2024 Ford F150 Police Responder 4X4 in the amount $55,095 from 
State Contract vendor, Wade Ford (Smyrna, Ga).  Funding is available in SPLOST 
VIII.  ACTION: 

b. Consider for action the recommendation from Facilities Management to purchase one 
(1) 2023 Ford F350 Super Duty Service Truck in the amount $75,414 from State 
Contract vendor, Wade Ford (Smyrna, Ga). Funding is available in SPLOST 
VIII.   ACTION: 

c. Consider for action the recommendation from Facilities Management to accept the 
quotes to replace the Air Handling Unit (AHU) #9 and controls at the Dougherty County 
Health Department for a total expenditure of $130,917.20.  Service Pro’s (Leesburg, 
Ga) is the lowest quoted vendor to replace the AHU in the amount of $62,317.20.  Sole 
source vendor, ESS (Albany, Ga) will replace the controls in the amount of 
$68,600.  Funding is budgeted in SPLOST VII.  ACTION: 

d. Consider for action the recommendation from Facilities Management to accept the 
quote to paint the hallways on the first floor of the Central Square Building from the 
lowest quoted vendor MSK, LLC (Leesburg, Ga) in the amount of $27,950.  Funding 
is budgeted in SPLOST VII.  ACTION: 

9. Additional Business. 

a. Consider for action the Resolution providing for the acceptance and execution of 
the Work Based Learning Program Agreement between Dougherty County and Turner 
Job Corps (TJC) Center.  ACTION: 

b. Consider for action the Resolution providing for the acceptance and execution 
of Amendment Number Two to the Dougherty County Defined Benefit Retirement Plan 
and Trust as recommended from the Retirement Fund Committee.  ACTION: 

c. Consider for action the Resolution providing for the change of Dougherty County’s 
current Retirement Life Insurance (Death Benefit) from Lincoln Financial to Securian 
as recommended by the Retirement Fund Committee.  ACTION: 

d. Consider for action the ratification of the application to the FEMA Hazard Mitigation 
Assistance (HMA) Grant Program and accept the award in the amount of $40,485. 
There is a local fund share amount of $2,429.10 required. The grant will be used to 
update the Dougherty County Multi-Jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation Plan to meet the 
federal requirements of the Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000.  The local funding 
requirements will be offset by volunteer time.  ACTION: 

e. Consider for action the Resolution providing for the approval to transfer approximately 
0.85 acres of unutilized land located at 2419 Sylvester Highway to the Albany 
Dougherty Land Bank.  ACTION: 

f. Consider for action the request to allow Dougherty County Facilities Management 
to work with the Artesian Alliance to demo the current Festival Springs Fountain for 
the drafting and construction of plans of Phase 1 that will replace the current 
splashpad.  ACTION: 

2



g. Consider for action the Resolution providing for the approval and execution of two 
Permanent Sewer Easements to the City of Albany for the purpose of allowing the City 
to erect, construct, install, operate, inspect and repair sewer infrastructure on County-
owned property across from the National Guard Armory between N. Jefferson and 
Monroe Street.  County Attorney Alex Shalishali and Jeff Hughes, City of 
Albany Sewer Projects Engineer will address.  ACTION: 

h. Consider for action the Zoning Consideration of Tommy Crosby, applicant and owner 
(24-021) requests to rezone a 3.69-acre parcel from AG (Agricultural District) and  
C-2 (General Mixed-Use Business District) to C-3 (Commercial District). The rezoning 
would allow for the operation of a manufactured home sales and repair business. The 
property address is 1932 Liberty Expressway. The Planning Commission 
recommends approval.  ACTION: 

10. Consider for action the proposed Board Appointments.  Appointments are made by 
nominations.   
 

Albany-Dougherty Land Bank Authority- One (1) County appointment with a two-
year term ending July 31, 2026.  Assistant County Administrator Barry Brooks 
recommends the reappointment of incumbent Jim McBride.  The bylaws require a 
recommendation be provided from the listing of applicants.  ACTION: 

ASPIRE Behavioral Health & Developmental Disability Services Board- One (1) 
appointment with a three-year term ending June 30, 2027.  Incumbent Dr. Eugene 
Sherman desires reappointment.  Two new applicants: Nathaniel Cooper III and 
Commissioner Clinton Johnson. ACTION: 

Citizens Transportation Committee – One (1) appointment with a three–year 
unexpired term ending December 31, 2025.  No new applicants.  There is one 
vacancy. 

Department of Family & Children Services – Two (2) appointments with a five–year 
term ending June 30, 2029.  Incumbents Henry Mathis, Jr. and Barbara Johnson Clark 
desire reappointment.  Three new applicants: Nathaniel Cooper III, Christy Faison, 
and Martez Favis. ACTION: 

Electrical Board – Four (4) appointments: one (1) County appointment for a Master 
Electrician, one (1) joint appointment for an Electrical Supplier, one (1) joint 
appointment for a Professional Engineer and one (1) appointment for a joint citizen 
member, all with a one-year term ending December 31, 2024.  No new applicants. All 
joint appointments must be ratified by the City of Albany.  There are four vacancies.  

Fire Code Board of Appeals – Three (3) appointments with a three-year unexpired 
term ending December 31, 2025. No new applicants.  There are three vacancies.  

Flood Plain Management Review Board – One (1) County appointment with a three-
year unexpired term ending December 31, 2024.  There are no new applicants.  There 
is one vacancy.  

Gas Board – One (1) County appointment with a one-year term ending December 31, 
2024.  No new applicants.  All joint appointments must be ratified by the City of 
Albany.   There is one vacancy.  

3



Planning Commission – One (1) County appointment with a three-year unexpired 
term ending December 31, 2025.  Incumbent Billy Merritt is no longer able to 
serve.  Two new applicants: Casey Beane and Demetrius Love.   There is one 
vacancy. ACTION: 

11. Updates from the Assistant County Administrator. 

a. REMINDER - The Government Affairs Committee will meet immediately following the 
Regular Meeting in Room 120. 

12. Updates from the County Attorney. 

13. Updates from the County Commission. 

14. Adjourn. 

 Dougherty County's Vision Statement 

Dougherty County will be a committed leader in sustaining a high quality of life by 
partnering with citizens, businesses, and other government agencies to make this a 
community of choice for living, working, and leisure activities. 

Dougherty County's Mission Statement 

To improve the quality of life for all our citizens by being accessible and good stewards of 
our resources while delivering cost-effective, responsive, services with integrity, fairness, 
and friendliness. 

 

Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities 
are required to contact the ADA Coordinator at 229-431-2121 promptly to allow the County to make 
reasonable accommodations for those persons. 

4



 

DOUGHERTY COUNTY COMMISSION 

                                DRAFT  

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

 

April 1, 2024 

 

The Dougherty County Commission met in Room 100 of the Albany-Dougherty 

Government Center on April 1, 2024.  Chairman Lorenzo Heard presided and called the 

meeting to order at 10:00 a.m.  Present were Commissioners Victor Edwards, Gloria Gaines, 

Russell Gray, Anthony Jones, and Ed Newsome.  Also present were Assistant County 

Administrator Barry Brooks, and other staff.  The public and representatives of the media 

participated in person and via live streaming of the meeting on the County’s Facebook page 

and the government public access channel.  County Attorney Alex Shalishali participated 

via teleconference and County Clerk Jawahn Ware was present online.  Commissioner 

Clinton Johnson was absent. 

 

After the invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by the Chairman, he called for approval of the 

minutes of the March 4th Regular Meeting and March 11th Work Session. 

 

Commissioner Newsome moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Edwards, 

the minutes were unanimously approved.   

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution providing for the acceptance and 

execution of the proposal for Disaster Debris Removal Services from the most responsive 

and responsible vendor meeting specifications, Ceres Environmental Services, Inc. 

(Sarasota, Fl), subject to execution of the contract by the Acting County Administrator.  The 

proposal is for a total, complete, turn-key disaster disposal relief service to be utilized on an 

as needed basis in the occurrence of a major storm event.  This will be a one-year contract 

with four options to renew for additional one-year terms. If required, funding will be 

provided by the Special Services District Fund.   

 

Commissioner Newsome moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Gray, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 24-010 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE ACCEPTANCE OF 

THE PROPOSAL FOR DISASTER DEBRIS REMOVAL SERVICES FROM 

THE LOWEST RESPONSIVE AND RESPONSIBLE VENDOR MEETING 

SPECIFICATIONS, CERES ENVIRONMENTAL SOLUTIONS, INC.; 

REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN 

CONFLICT HEREWITH; 

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

5

Item 5a.



The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution providing for the acceptance and 

execution of the bid for Phase III Alley Improvements for Public Works from the most 

responsive and responsible bidder meeting specifications, Concrete Enterprises (Albany, 

GA) in the amount of $1,496,873.04, subject to execution by the Acting County 

Administrator.  Funding is budgeted in T-SPLOST.   

 

Commissioner Gray moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Newsome, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 24-011 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE 

ACCEPTANCE AND EXECUTION OF THE CONTRACT TO 

ACCEPT THE BID FROM THE LOWEST RESPONSIVE AND 

RESPONSIBLE BIDDER MEETING SPECIFICATIONS, 

CONCRETE ENTERPRISES, FOR PHASE III ALLEY 

IMPROVEMENTS FOR PUBLIC WORKS; REPEALING 

RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT 

HEREWITH; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution providing for the acceptance and 

execution of the agreement from Granicus (Denver, Colorado) in the amount of $48,820, 

subject to execution by the Acting County Administrator. The recommendation includes the 

product, maintenance, and services for Government Experience Cloud (SERVE), 

Government Experience Cloud (SERVE) Set-up and Configuration, and Government 

Experience Cloud (SERVE) Training.  Maintenance costs for year two is $21,464.20 and 

year three is $22,966.69.  Funding for the first year will be available in General Fund- 

Contingency. 

 

Commissioner Gaines moved for approval.  Commissioner Newsome seconded the motion.  

Under discussion, Commissioner Gaines requested a schedule of implementation for the new 

web services.  There being no further discussion, the motion for approval passed 

unanimously.  Resolution 24-012 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE ACCEPTANCE AND 

APPROVAL AND EXECUTION OF AGREEMENT WITH GRANICUS 

TO PROVIDE PRODUCT, MAINTENANCE, SET UP, 

CONFIGURATION AND SERVICES FOR GOVERNMENT 

EXPERIENCE CLOUD (SERVE); REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR 

PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; AND FOR 

OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

6

Item 5a.



The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution declaring the listed vehicles and 

equipment as surplus and authorizing the disposal of or sale of same via an online auction.   

 

Commissioner Gaines moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Newsome, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 24-013 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION DECLARING AS SURPLUS THE 

ATTACHED LIST OF EQUIPMENT AND VEHICLES; 

PROVIDING FOR DISPOSAL OF OR SALE OF SAME VIA 

AN ONLINE AUCTION; REPEALING PRIOR RESOLUTIONS 

IN CONFLICT; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration to approve the alcohol application from Jimmy 

Sylvester Investments LLC, Azim Abdul Sultan Shroff licensee, dba Kash Food Mart, at 

3333 Sylvester Road for Package- Beer and Wine.  The Albany-Dougherty Marshal’s Office 

recommended approval.   

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Gaines, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.   

 

The Chairman called for consideration to approve the alcohol application from SVR Brands, 

Inc., Prashant Patel licensee, dba Big E Country Store, at 2100 Cordele Road for Package- 

Beer and Wine.  The Albany-Dougherty Marshal’s Office recommended approval.   

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Gaines, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.   

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution providing for the acceptance and 

execution of the Statewide Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement with the State of Georgia.  

The contract allows Dougherty County to make agreements for mutual aid assistance in 

emergencies.   

 

Commissioner Newsome moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Gray, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 24-014 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION FOR APPROVAL AND EXECUTION OF THE 

MUTUAL AID AND ASSISTANCE AGREEMENT RENEWAL 

WITH THE STATE OF GEORGIA ALLOWING DOUGHERTY 

COUNTY TO MAKE AGREEMENTS FOR MUTUAL AID 

7

Item 5a.



ASSISTANCE IN EMERGENCIES; REPEALING RESOLUTIONS 

OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; 

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution declaring two Stryker Pro-Cot 

Stretchers as surplus and authorizing the Intergovernmental Transfer of the same at no cost 

of the same to Albany Technical College.  The equipment will be used by the college's 

Paramedicine Program.   

 

Commissioner Gray moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Gaines, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 24-015 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION DECLARING TWO COUNTY-

OWNED STRYKER PRO-COT STRETCHERS AS 

SURPLUS AND AUTHORIZING THE TRANSFER 

AT NO COST FOR THE SAME TO ALBANY 

TECHNICAL COLLEGE; REPEALING 

RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN 

CONFLICT HEREWITH; AND FOR OTHER 

PURPOSES. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution providing for the acceptance of the 

proposed Emergency Medical Service Standby Event & Service Priority Policy effective 

April 1, 2024.   

 

Commissioner Gray moved for approval.  Commissioner Newsome seconded the motion.  

Under discussion, Commissioner Edwards’ questions were addressed by Mr. Brooks, 

Commissioner Gaines, Gray, and Jones.  Attorney Shalishali interjected and redirected the 

conversation to that subject to an open meeting.  There being no further discussion, the 

motion for approval passed with six ayes and one nay by Commissioner Edwards.  

Resolution 24-016 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION FOR APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE OF 

THE RECOMMENDATION FROM THE PUBLIC HEALTH 

COMMITTEE TO ACCEPT THE EMERGENCY MEDICAL 

SERVICE STANDBY EVENT & SERVICE PRIORITY POLICY; 

REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS 

IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; 

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

8

Item 5a.



The Chairman called for consideration of the recommendation to present to the City of 

Albany the proposed Memorandum of Understanding regarding the construction of a tennis 

center.  Commissioner Gaines moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Gray, 

the motion for approval passed unanimously.   

 

Commissioner Edwards shared that he distributed a memorandum of the County 

Government structure and requested that it be reviewed and submitted for ordinance review.  

He also inquired about the requested meeting regarding the County’s Internship Program 

and the expectations of the Board.  He also reported a roadway issue in the Radium Springs 

area, noting that it may be in the city limits.  Commissioner Jones updated the Board on the 

funding received from the State Legislators for the Westtown Library improvements.  The 

Board and the public were invited to the upcoming Dollars Make Sense Literacy program 

graduation.  The Chairman requested prayers for the Board’s Clerk and Deputy Clerk who 

both experience death in their families.  

 

There being no further business to come before the Commission, the meeting adjourned at  

10:38 a.m. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

CHAIRMAN 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________ 

COUNTY CLERK 

9

Item 5a.



DOUGHERTY COUNTY COMMISSION 

                                DRAFT  

WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

 

April 8, 2024 

 

The Dougherty County Commission met in Room 100 of the Albany-Dougherty Government 

Center on April 8, 2024.  Chairman Lorenzo Heard presided and called the meeting to order at 

10:02 a.m.  Present were Commissioners Victor Edwards, Gloria Gaines, Russell Gray,  

Clinton Johnson, Anthony Jones, and Ed Newsome.  Also present were Assistant County 

Administrator Barry Brooks, County Attorney Alex Shalishali, Deputy County Clerk  

Bristeria Clark, and other staff.  The public and representatives of the media participated in person 

and via live streaming of the meeting on the County’s Facebook page and the government public 

access channel.   

 

After the invocation by Chairman Heard, he asked the Commission to review the minutes of the 

March 18th Regular Meeting and March 25th Work Session. 

 

The Chairman recognized Coroner Michael Fowler to update the Commission on the 2024 Swim 

for Life program.  Coroner Fowler shared his presentation and said that registration will be held 

on May 25th at the Riverfront Turtle Park starting at 10 am.  He mentioned the partnerships for this 

event included Morehouse School of Medicine and Phoebe Network of Trust.   

He introduced the YMCA, ASU, Albany Recreation Department, and the Boys & Girls Clubs staff 

members present at the meeting.  

 

The Chairman called for a recommendation from Juvenile Court to apply for a Criminal Justice 

Incentive Grant Program in the amount of $410,000 for Functional Family Therapy use.  This is 

an annual request for the 100% grant with no local match.  Juvenile Court Judge Herbie Solomon 

addressed.  Judge Solomon shared that this program was developed to create an intervention for 

families with behavioral substance problems.  Upon a question by Commissioner Johnson,  

Judge Solomon said that classes were taught to juveniles throughout the functional family 

program.   

 

The Chairman called for a recommendation from the Dougherty County Jail and Dougherty 

County Public Defender’s Office to participate in the "My Justice Portal" pilot program.   

The "My Justice Portal” is an application that can be deployed on inmate tablets and enhances the 

quality, frequency, and confidentiality of inmate/attorney communication between the inmate and 

Public Defender's Office. The program anticipates reducing back-logged cases in the court system 

and the average length-of-stay for jail inmates.  The cost of the program is $136,464 and funding 

is available in SPLOST V.  Grant funding is desired.  The Public Safety Committee recommends 

the use of the application.  Public Safety Committee Chairman Anthony Jones, Assistant County 

Administrator Barry Brooks, and Chief Jailer John Ostrander addressed.  Chief Ostrander said that 

this program was designed to help facilitate communication between the Public Defenders and 

inmates.  It was noted that the application will be on the existing tables where the Public Defenders 

would have the ability to communicate with the inmate electronically.  If savings occurred after 

the first year, Chief Ostrander said that he would want to extend the use for additional years.  

10

Item 5a.



Commissioner Gaines wanted to make sure that we were maximizing the funds and asked that a 

comprehensive look be done.  Commissioner Jones suggested that a grant administrator be hired 

to monitor federal grant funds.  Commissioner Edwards asked that a survey be placed on the tablets 

to allow the inmates to provide feedback to measure the success of usage. 

 

The Chairman called for a recommendation from the Dougherty County Jail and Dougherty 

County Public Defender’s Office to apply for a Georgia Bar Foundation Grant in the amount of 

$140,000 for the "My Justice Portal" pilot program.  Approval of the grant application is requested 

to offset the cost of the program.  Chief Jailer John Ostrander and Disaster Recovery and Grants, 

Program Manager, Harriet Hollis addressed.  Ms. Hollis shared that her office was short-staffed 

and mentioned that she was working hard to serve in all the vacant roles. Upon a question by 

Commissioner Jones, Mr. Brooks mentioned that the regional team and Georgia Collier-Boiling 

were assisting with grant assistance.  He added that the lobbyist team has taken the initiative to 

assist with weekly updates on various grants to see if Dougherty County meets the qualifications 

to apply.  

 

The Chairman called for a recommendation to approve the Memorandum of Agreement with 

Albany Technical College on behalf of the Dougherty County Sheriff's Office authorizing 

assistance to each other during a local emergency.  Chief Jailer John Ostrander addressed.  

Assistant County Administrator Barry Brooks was present.  Chief Ostrander asked the Board to 

disregard this item. 

 

Mr. Brooks shared information pertaining to sewer easements relative to the County-owned 

property across from the National Guard Armory between N. Jefferson and Monroe Street.  He 

added that the City of Albany wanted the area to be viewed and easements approved so that work 

could be continued.  Commissioner Edwards wanted to know if direction needed to be given to 

Mr. Brooks to hire a third-party grant writer to assist and solely focus on grants.  Commissioner 

Johnson congratulated Commissioner Jones on his successful Financial Literacy Program 

graduation.  Commissioner Gaines echoed the same sentiments of Commissioner Johnson and 

added that the citizens should view the eclipse if possible.  She recognized Councilman Corey 

Morgan and SOWEGA Rising member Maggie Bell.  Commissioner Jones thanked his colleagues 

for the accolades and asked for a moment of silence for County Clerk Ware and Deputy County 

Clerk Clark's family members who died.  Chairman Heard shared that we need to consider the 

grant opportunities on a larger scale and look at other counties to see how they operated with grants 

based on the focused need for the area. 

 

There being no further business to discuss the Commission the meeting adjourned at  

11:13 a.m. 

 

 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

CHAIRMAN 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________ 

COUNTY CLERK 

11

Item 5a.



DOUGHERTY COUNTY COMMISSION 

                                DRAFT  

SPECIAL CALLED MEETING MINUTES 

 

April 8, 2024 

 

The Dougherty County Commission met for a Special Called Meeting in Room 100 of the Albany-

Dougherty Government Center on April 8, 2024 immediately following the Work Session. 

Chairman Lorenzo Heard presided and called the meeting to order at 11:22 a.m.  Present were 

Commissioners Victor Edwards, Gloria Gaines, Russell Gray, Clinton Johnson, Anthony Jones 

and Ed Newsome.  Also present were Assistant County Administrator Barry Brooks, County 

Attorney Alex Shalishali, Deputy County Clerk Bristeria Clark, and other staff.  The public and 

representatives of the media participated in person and via live streaming of the meeting on the 

County's Facebook page and the government public access channel. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the recommendation from the County Attorney to enter 

into Executive Session for the purpose of discussing real estate, pending litigation, and then to 

adjourn.   

 

Commissioner Johnson moved for approval. Upon a second by Commissioner Edwards, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously via roll call. 

 

There being no further discussion, the Board entered into Executive Session at 11:23 a.m. 
 

_______________________________ 

CHAIRMAN 

ATTEST: 
 

_______________________ 

COUNTY CLERK 

12

Item 5a.



 
 

 

                                                                        MEMORANDUM 
 

Date:       May 2, 2024 
 

To:          Dougherty County Board of Commissioners  

From:       Albany-Dougherty Planning Commission 

Subject:    24-021 (Rezoning) 1932 Liberty Expressway 
 
Tommy N Crosby (24-021) has submitted an application to the Albany-Dougherty 
Planning Commission requesting that the Official Zoning Map of Albany, Georgia, be 
amended to rezone a 3.69-acre parcel from AG (Agricultural District) & C-2 (General 
Mixed-Use Business District) to C-3 (Commercial District). The rezoning would allow for 
the operation of a manufactured home sales and repair business. The property is 
addressed to 1932 Liberty Expressway, parcel (00180/00001/38B). The property owner 
& applicant is Tommy N. Crosby. District 6 
 
Charles Ochie offered a motion to approve; Art Brown seconded the motion. 

The motion carried 6-0 with the following votes: 

Sanford Hillsman         Tie or Quorum 

Aaron Johnson                Yes 

Art Brown                    Yes 

Charles Ochie           Yes 

William Geer            Yes 

Jimmy Hall           Yes 

Helen Young           Yes 

 
 

                         P L A N N I N G & D E V E L O P M E N T S E R V I C E S 
 

P.O. Box 447 Albany, GA 31702 | Phone: 229.438.3901 | Fax: 229.438.3965 | www.albanyga.gov 

13

Item 7a.

http://www.albanyga.gov/


STAFF ANALYSIS AND REPORT 
APPLICATION #24-021 REZONING 

 

 
 

OWNER: Tommy N. Crosby 
 
APPLICANT: Tommy N. Crosby 
 
LOCATION:     1932 Liberty Expressway   
      Tax Parcel 00180/00001/38B 
 
CURRENT ZONING/USE:   

Zoning: AG (Agricultural District)& C-2 (General Mixed-
Use Business District) 

Use:     Lay down area for adjacent commercial 
PROPOSED ZONING/USE:   

Zoning: C-3 (Commercial District) 
Use: Mobile home sales and repair 

ZONING/ADJACENT LAND USE:  
North: Zoning: AG (Agricultural District) 
Land Use: Vacant lands, farm land, residential 

 
South: Zoning:   C-2 (General Mixed-Use Business District) & 
     C-3 (Commercial District) 

   Land Use:    Commercial  
 

West: Zoning: AG (Agricultural District) 
Land Use:                                  Vacant lands, farm land 

 

14

Item 7a.



East: Zoning:  R-MHS (Residential Mobile Home Subdivision 
District) & C-2 (General Mixed-Use Business 
District) 

Land Use:                                 Mixed Commercial and Residential Uses  
 
MEETING INFORMATION:   

Planning Commission: 5/2/2024, 2:00 P.M., Government Center, 
                                                222 Pine Avenue, Rm. 100 
Public Hearing: 5/06/2024, 10:00 A.M., Government Center, 
                                                222 Pine Avenue, Rm. 100 

 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval  
 
BASIC INFORMATION 
 
Tommy N. Crosby has submitted an application to the Albany-Dougherty Planning 
Commission requesting that the Official Zoning Map of Albany, Georgia, be amended to 
rezone a 3.69-acre parcel from AG (Agricultural District) & C-2 (General Mixed-Use 
Business District) to C-3 (Commercial District). The rezoning would allow for the 
operation of a manufactured home sales and repair business.  
  
PHYSICAL CHARACTERISTICS AND INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
This site is a 3.69-acre parcel located along Liberty Expressway SE. The property is not 
served by public water or sanitary sewer. The property is not located within the 100-yr 
floodplain.  
 
RELEVANT ZONING HISTORY 
 
The parcel has maintained AG zoning (Agricultural District) since Dougherty County 
adopted zoning in 1969. The C-2 (General Mixed-Use Business District) portion was 
rezoned from AG to C-2 in 1974.  
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Listed below are several issues for consideration in evaluating this rezoning application. 
 
1. Will the rezoning proposal permit suitable use for the use and development of 

adjacent and nearby property? 
Yes. The rezoning of C-3 will allow for the operation of commercial businesses within 
the parcel.  
 

2.  Will the rezoning proposal adversely affect the existing use or usability of adjacent 
or nearby property? 

15

Item 7a.



The proposed rezoning will not adversely affect the existing use or usability of 
adjacent or nearby properties.  

 
3.  Does the property affected by the rezoning proposal have reasonable economic use 

as currently zoned? 
No. This parcel is currently zoned AG and due to its size (3.69 acres) and location 
adjacent to the Liberty Expressway, it has limited potential for agricultural use.   
 

4.  Will the rezoning proposal result in a use that will or could cause excessive or 
burdensome use of existing streets, transportation facilities, utilities, or schools? 

 
• Impact on Utilities: The proposed use will not impact utilities.  
• Impact on the School System: The proposed use will not impact the school 

system. 
• Impact on Transportation Network: Staff estimates that the effect of the 

rezoning on the surrounding transportation network would be moderate and as 
follows:  

 
Trip Generation: Based on Trip Generation's 11th Edition, General Light Industrial 
would generate between 1 to 44 trips per day for every 1,000 sq ft of the building.  
 
AADT: The closest Average Daily Traffic (AADT) is located at the 1900 Block of Liberty 
Expressway SE, with an AADT of 13,900 in 2022.  
 
Road Improvements: According to the FY 2024-2027 Transportation 
Improvement Program and the Dougherty Area Regional Transportation 
Study 2045, P.I. 0017843 (SR 3/SR 300/US 19 @ CR 39/NELMS 
ROAD – VRU) will bring Intersection Improvements to Nelms Rd. and Liberty 
Expressway SE south of the parcel. 
 
Road Classifications: Streets that provide access to the subject property are 
classified accordingly:  
 

• Liberty Expressway (US 19) is classified as a principal arterial street. 
 
Public Transit Routes: Albany Transit System does not serve this area.   
 
Accident Information: Planning Staff has run accident reports to provide data for the 
immediate area, from Antioch Rd to Honeysuckle Dr. Reports indicate that 28 accidents 
have been reported over the past year. No fatal crashes were reported; 2 accidents 
resulted in Serious Injury, and 3 accidents resulted in minor injuries. 
 

16

Item 7a.



Proposed Driveway/Parking Plan: The parcel is accessed from Liberty Expressway. 
The proposed development would be required to provide a site plan and parking plan.  
 
Analysis: Staff finds there should be moderate impact on the surrounding 
transportation network anticipated due to the proposed use at this time.  
 
5.  Is the rezoning proposal conforming with the policy and intent of the Albany-

Dougherty Comprehensive Plan for Development (2026)?  
Yes. The parcel is currently designated as Commercial in the Comprehensive Plan. 
Rezoning to C-3 Commercial will align with the Plan.  
 

6.  Are there other existing or changing conditions affecting the use and development 
of the property that provide grounds for approval or disapproval of the rezoning 
proposal as submitted? 
None were identified by staff. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends approval to rezone 3.69 acres from AG (Agricultural District) & C-2 
(General Mixed-Use Business District) to C-3 (Commercial District). 
 

17

Item 7a.



18

Item 7a.



19

Item 7a.



20

Item 7a.



21

Item 7a.



22

Item 7a.



23

Item 7a.



24

Item 7a.



25

Item 7a.



26

Item 7a.



27

Item 7a.



28

Item 7a.



29

Item 7a.



30

Item 7a.



31

Item 7a.



32

Item 7a.



 

                 Barry Brooks 
         Assistant County Administrator 

 

 

 

DOUGHERTY COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

                          ADMINISTRATION 

        

 

 
222 PINE AVENUE | SUITE 540 | ALBANY, GEORGIA 31701 | 229.431.2121 office | 229.438.3967 fax  

dougherty.ga.us 

Agenda Item 
 

Date:    April 10, 2024 
  
Meeting Date: April 29, 2024 
 
Subject/Title:  Dougherty County Sheriff’s Office New Vehicle 
 
Presented for:  Decision 
 
Presenter:   Barry Brooks, Assistant County Administrator 
 
Statement of Issue: 
 

The Dougherty County Sheriff’s Office is requesting to purchase one (1) new 2024 Ford 
F150 Police Responder 4x4 Truck. 
 
History/Facts and Issues: 
 

The Dougherty County Sheriff’s Office is requesting to purchase one (1) 2024 Ford F150 
Police Responder 4x4 Truck from Wade Ford in Smyrna, GA for a total amount of $55,095.  
The vehicle is a scheduled purchase.   
  
Recommended Action: 
 

Recommend Dougherty County Commission approves the purchase of one (1) new 2024 
Ford F150 Police Responder 4x4 Truck for a total expenditure of $55,095 from the State 
Contract vendor, Wade Ford. 
 
Funding Source: 
 
SPLOST VIII 
 

 

 

 

 

  

33

Item 8a.



      Barry Brooks 
                              Assistant County Administrator 

 

 

 

 

                                                        

 DOUGHERTY COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

                                ADMINISTRATION 

        

 

 Agenda Item 
   

 
222 PINE AVENUE | SUITE 540 | ALBANY, GEORGIA 31701 | 229.431.2121 | dougherty.ga.us 

 

Date:   April 19, 2024 

 

Meeting Date:             April 29, 2024 

 

Subject/Title: Service Truck Purchase 

 

Presented for:  Decision 

 

Presenter:                   Barry Brooks, Assistant County Administrator 

 

Statement of Issue 

The Facilities Management Department is requesting the approval to purchase a Service 

Truck.  

 

History/Facts and Issues  

The Dougherty County Facilities Management Department is requesting the approval to 

purchase a 2023 Ford F350 Super Duty Service Truck from state contract vendor Wade Ford 

(Smyrna, GA) in the amount of $75,414.  The truck is upfitted with a service body and is 

available for delivery.  This is a scheduled purchase. 

 

Recommended Action 

The recommendation is that the Dougherty County Commission approve the expenditure in 

the amount of $75,414 for a new service truck from Wade Ford (Smyrna, GA). This purchase 

is on State Contract 99999-SPD-SPD0000155-0006  

 

Funding Source 

SPLOST VIII 

34

Item 8b.



      Barry Brooks 
                  Assistant County Administrator 

 

 

 

 

                                                        

 DOUGHERTY COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

                                ADMINISTRATION 

        

 

   
 

 
222 PINE AVENUE | SUITE 540 | ALBANY, GEORGIA 31701 | 229.431.2121 | dougherty.ga.us 

Agenda Item 

 

Date:   April 17, 2024 

 

Meeting Date:             April 29, 2024 

 

Subject/Title:  Replacement Air Handling Unit (AHU) #9 and Controls 

 

Presented for:  Decision 

 

Presenter:                   Barry Brooks, Asst. County Administrator 

 

Statement of Issue 

Dougherty County Facilities Management needs to replace the Air Handling Unit (AHU) #9 and 

the controls at the Dougherty County Health Department. 

 

History/Facts and Issues  

AHU #9 and the controls at the Dougherty County Health Department need to be replaced. 

 

Three contractors provided quotes for the unit with the lowest quote being from Service Pro’s 

(Leesburg, Ga) in the amount of $62,317.20. 

 

The HVAC controls are proprietary and must match and work with the current HVAC controls 

installed in the building.  ESS (Albany, Ga) is able to complete the work and quoted $68,600.   

 

Recommended Action 

Recommend Dougherty County Commission accepts the quote from Service Pro’s in the 

amount of $62,317.20 and from ESS in the amount of $68,600, for a total expenditure of 

$130,917.20 to replace AHU #9 and the controls at the Dougherty County Health Department. 

 

Funding Source 

SPLOST VII  

 

  

35

Item 8c.



Page 2 

Quotes meeting specifications 

Safe Aire Heating and Cooling- Leesburg, Ga - $70,124 
Climate Masters- Albany, Ga- $92,000 
Service Pro’s - Leesburg, Ga- $62,317.20 
 
HVAC Controls 
ESS - Albany, Ga- $68,600 (Sole Source) 

36

Item 8c.



      Barry Brooks 
                  Assistant County Administrator 

 

 

 

 

                                                        

 DOUGHERTY COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

                                ADMINISTRATION 

        

 

   
 

 
222 PINE AVENUE | SUITE 540 | ALBANY, GEORGIA 31701 | 229.431.2121 | dougherty.ga.us 

Agenda Item 

 

Date:   April 17, 2024 

 

Meeting Date:             April 29, 2024 

 

Subject/Title:  Paint Hallways 1st Floor Central Square  

 

Presented for:  Decision 

 

Presenter:                   Barry Brooks, Asst. County Administrator 

 

Statement of Issue 

Dougherty County Facilities Management needs to paint the hallways on the first floor of the 

Central Square facility. 

 

History/Facts and Issues  

The hallways of the first floor of the Central Square facility need to be painted. 

 

Three contractors provided quotes, with the lowest quote being from MSK LLC (Leesburg, Ga) 

in the amount of $27,950. 

 

Recommended Action 

Recommend Dougherty County Commission accepts the quote from MSK LLC in the amount 

of $27,950. 

 

Funding Source 

SPLOST VII  

 

Quotes meeting specifications 

Burns Painting & Drywall- Albany, Ga- $36,885 
Empire Painting- Sylvester, Ga - $30,990 
MSK LLC- Leesburg, Ga- $27,950 

37

Item 8d.



A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION FOR APPROVAL AND EXECUTION OF THE WORK BASED 

LEARNING PROGRAM AGREEMENT BETWEEN DOUGHERTY COUNTY AND 

TURNER JOB CORPS CENTER; REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF 

RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT HEREWITH;  

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, Georgia has considered 

and is hereby desirous of approving and adopting the Work Based Learning Program Agreement 

between Dougherty County and Turner Job Corps; 

 

 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty 

County, Georgia and its hereby resolved by authority of same as follows: 

 

 SECTION I      The attached Work Based Learning Program Agreement between 

Dougherty County and Turner Job Corps is hereby approved and adopted and the Dougherty 

County Chairman along with any other appropriate Dougherty County staff are hereby authorized 

to execute any and all other documents necessary to the full implementation of said Agreement. 

 

 SECTION II    All Resolutions or parts of Resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

  

 This the 6th day of May, 2024.   

       BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 

       DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

 

       BY:______________________________ 

           Lorenzo L. Heard, Chairman 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_______________________________ 

County Clerk 

 

38

Item 9a.



 

WORK-BASED LEARNING PROGRAM AGREEMENT 
 

BETWEEN 

 

Turner Job Corps Center 

2000 Schilling Ave. 

Albany, GA 31701 

 

and 

 

Employer:            ________________________________ 

Address:              ________________________________ 

Telephone:          ______________________________ 

Point of Contact: ________________________________ 

Print Name:                ________________________________  

 

 

Dougherty County including all County Departments as listed at https://www.dougherty.ga.us/ 

and Turner Job Corps Center are entering into an AGREEMENT to establish a Work-Based 

Learning (WBL) Program for the following trade areas; facility maintenance, heavy equipment, 

landscape, and office administration. This document is not a contract or a legally binding 

document; rather, it is a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the above-mentioned 

parties. 

 

Job Corps program participants receive medical coverage under the U.S. FECA Act while 

performing work for the above-mentioned parties. There is no provision stated or implied in the 

Act that employers must provide additional insurance coverage for Job Corps program 

participants. While students are assigned to the work site, the WBL Coordinator is responsible 

for monitoring and working closely with the students and employers to provide training, weekly 

evaluations, and conflict resolution. The WBL employer should be advised to report all accidents 

and injuries that occur during the “performance of duty” directly to the Center Director or WBL 

Coordinator. In the event a student is injured while assigned to a WBL site, the student is 

covered under FECA. WBL employer shall record the incident in accordance with the 

established injury recordkeeping system, and report the incident to the WBL Coordinator. 

 

There are no specific general industry Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) 

standards for accident investigation. However, Job Corps centers are required to conduct 

accident investigations in the event of a fatality, major property damage or injuries, including 

serious injuries resulting in hospitalization in accordance with 29 CFR 1960.29, “Basic Program 

Elements for Federal Employees OSHA.” In the event of a student fatality or serious injury, the 

work site and the WBL Coordinator are responsible for contacting OSHA and the Job Corps 

center within 8 hours. Job Corps and the work site should conduct an accident investigation to 

determine the root cause in order to implement corrective actions to prevent future occurrences. 

39

Item 9a.

https://www.dougherty.ga.us/
jware
Typewritten Text
Dougherty County Board of Commissioners

jware
Typewritten Text
222 Pine Ave, Ste 540, Albany, GA 31701

jware
Typewritten Text
Human Resources

jware
Typewritten Text
229-431-2122

jware
Typewritten Text

jware
Typewritten Text

jware
Typewritten Text
Erica Potts, HR Director



The work site employer, Job Corps center, or Sovereign Nation is required to provide immediate 

access to OSHA Inspectors after an incident. (OSHA Act of 1970, Sec.8 Inspections, 

Investigations, and Recordkeeping) 

 

Work-Based Learning Agreements 

 

Job Corps center agrees to: 

1) Request a copy of the WBL site’s last federal and/or state OSHA inspection to review 

violations. WBL Coordinator will contact site to determine if the identified hazards have 

been abated; 

• If site refuses to provide copy of inspection results, center WBL Coordinator will 

obtain general inspection and/or accident inspection data from the federal OSHA 

website at http://www.osha.gov/oshstats/index.html or the state OSHA website. 

2) Monitor all active WBL sites at least monthly to ensure that students are receiving quality 

training in a safe environment. Center instructors, safety officers, and other staff shall 

visit active work sites on a regular basis to: 

• Observe and counsel students; 

• Observe working environment for potential hazards; 

• Observe students’ use of safety work practices including use of proper protective 

equipment; 

• Ensure that the training needs of the students are being met; and 

• Determine, in collaboration with the work-site supervisor, what on-center 

activities might be needed to support training at the work site. 

3) Implement a process for notifying the employer in the case of student absence (i.e., 

winter/summer break, unexpected student absence, center function); 

4) Record all accidents and injuries in the Safety and Health Information Management 

System (ECOMP) within 7 days of supervisor notification; 

5) Record and report all serious injuries or illnesses within 24 hours to the ECOMP 

coordinator, local director and local safety manager; 

6) Implement a process for notifying the employer of potential safety hazards identified by 

students and/or center staff; 

7) Coordinate with the employer to conduct an investigation of accidents resulting in serious 

injuries and/or fatalities involving Job Corps students; 

8) Document and record student WBL assignments and progress. 

 

WBL employer agrees to: 

1) Provide the center WBL coordinator with a copy of the latest federal and/or state OSHA 

inspection results upon request; 

2) Provide direct supervision and workplace mentors to students; 

3) Assist students in achieving agreed upon career technical and academic skills; 

4) Document student achievements and competencies; 

5) Provide center safety officer or other staff with routine escorted or unescorted access to 

student work areas to observe working/training conditions; 

6) Adhere to all federal and state laws and regulations regarding employment and applicable 

safety and occupational health; 

40

Item 9a.



7) Coordinate with Jerry Nelson (229) 903-0374, center Safety Officer, to conduct an 

investigation of accidents resulting in serious injuries and/or fatalities involving Job 

Corps students; 

8) Provide the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) with immediate 

access to the work site in the event of a student fatality or serious injury; 

9) Provide all equipment, tools, and personal protective equipment and clothing needed to 

perform the assigned duties that would normally be provided to employees; 

10) Inform the Center Director, or designee, of all accidents and injuries within 24 hours; 

11) Report all accidents, damage, loss or destruction of property, or emergency immediately 

to Center Director/designee, WBL Coordinator Charles Robinson at (229) 903-5952 in 

order to provide a detailed report. 

 

 

 

Signatures: 

 

Center Director: _____________________________        Date: ________________________ 

WBL Coordinator: ___________________________        Date: ________________________ 

Center Safety Officer: ________________________         Date: ________________________ 

Company CEO/Designee: _____________________         Date: ________________________ 

41

Item 9a.



A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION FOR APPROVAL OF AMENDMENT TWO TO THE DOUGHERTY 

COUNTY RETIREMENT PLAN AND TRUST; REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR 

PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT HEREWITH;  

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

 WHEREAS, on October 16, 2023, the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, 

Georgia approved a resolution approving a stipend for the Assistant County Administrator pending 

his duties as acting administrator, that among other things, allowed the Acting Administrator to 

participate in a 401(a) Defined Contribution Plan administered by the Association of County 

Commissioners of Georgia (ACCG) and transfer contributions from his Defined Benefit Plan to 

his Defined Contribution Plan; 

 

 WHEREAS, the Retirement Fund Committee recommends the approval of Amendment 

Two the County Retirement Plan and Trust in order validly facilitate the option for the Acting 

County Administrator and all Dougherty County Senior Management level staff to elect the said 

Defined Contribution Plan at the time of hiring;  

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, Georgia has considered 

and is hereby desirous of approving Amendment Two of the Dougherty County Retirement Plan 

and Trust as recommended by the Retirement Fund Committee; 

 

 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty 

County, Georgia and its hereby resolved by authority of same as follows: 

 

 SECTION I      The attached Amendment Two to the Dougherty County Retirement Plan 

is hereby approved and adopted and the Dougherty County Chairman along with any other 

appropriate Dougherty County staff are hereby authorized to execute any and all other documents 

necessary to the full implementation of said Amendment. 

 

 SECTION II    All Resolutions or parts of Resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

  

 This the 6th day of May, 2024.   

       BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 

       DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

 

       BY:______________________________ 

           Lorenzo L. Heard, Chairman 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_______________________________ 

County Clerk 

42

Item 9b.



AMENDMENT NUMBER TWO 
TO THE 

DOUGHERTY COUNTY DEFINED BENEFIT RETIREMENT PLAN AND TRUST 
 

(As Amended and Restated Effective as of July 1, 2015) 
 

  
 THIS AMENDMENT to the Dougherty County Defined Benefit Retirement Plan and 
Trust, as last amended and restated effective as of July 1, 2015 (the “Plan”), is adopted by the 
Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, Georgia (the “Employer”).  This amendment and 
these resolutions are effective as of the dates set forth herein. 
 

W I T N E S S E T H: 
 
 WHEREAS, the Employer has determined to amend the Plan to offer new hires into 
certain senior management, elected and appointed positions a one-time option to decline 
participation in this Plan;  
 

WHEREAS, the Employer has further determined to prospectively exclude from eligibility 
in the Plan the Employee who holds the title of Acting County Administrator as of March 31, 
2024; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Employer previously resolved that the Acting County Administrator’s 

contributions to the Plan shall be withdrawn. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Plan shall be amended as follows, 
effective as of the date that this Amendment Number Two is adopted by the Board of 
Commissioners below: 
 

1. 
 

 The definition of “Eligible Employee” in Article 1, DEFINITIONS, shall be amended by 
adding the following new paragraph at the end thereof: 
 

“Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Employee who holds the title of Acting County 
Administrator as of March 31, 2024, shall not be an Eligible Employee on and after the 
date that this paragraph is effective. This exclusion shall apply notwithstanding any 
subsequent change to his title and shall continue to apply if he is rehired following a 
termination of employment with the Employer.” 
 

2. 
 

A new Section 2.06, Election Not to Participate in the Plan, shall be added to Article 
II, ELIGIBILITY, to read as follows: 

 
“Section 2.06 Election Not to Participate in the Plan 
 
Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, an individual who will 
otherwise be an Eligible Employee upon his or her first date of employment as an 
Eligible Employee may make a one-time, irrevocable election not to participate in the 
Plan, subject to the following requirements: 
 
(1) The individual must have accepted an offer of employment with the Employer in 

one of the positions described in Schedule A hereto. 
43

Item 9b.



- 2 - 

 
(2) The election not to participate in the Plan must be made in writing in the form 

prescribed by the Employer. 
 
(3) The election must be received by the Employer before the individual first 

becomes (or would have become, but for the election) an Eligible Employee 
under this Plan or any other plan or arrangement of the Employer that is 
described in Code Section 219(g)(5)(A). For the avoidance of doubt, the 
Association County Commissioners of Georgia Defined Contribution for 
Dougherty County Employees (the “401(a) Plan”) is described in Code Section 
219(g)(5)(A), but the Association County Commissioners of Georgia 457(b) 
Deferred Compensation Plan is not. 

 
(4) If the Employee was a Participant in this Plan or in the 401(a) Plan during a 

previous period of employment with the Employer, or if he or she transfers to a 
position listed in Schedule A from a position as an Eligible Employee, he or she 
is not eligible to opt out of participation in the Plan pursuant to this Section 2.06. 

 
(5) An election not to participate in the Plan shall be irrevocable, including after a 

termination of employment and reemployment as an otherwise-Eligible 
Employee, and regardless of whether the electing Employee is accruing a benefit 
under the 401(a) plan or any other arrangement.” 

 
3. 
 

 A new Schedule A, POSITIONS ELIGIBLE TO OPT OUT OF PARTICIPATION IN THE 
PLAN, shall be added to the Plan to read as follows: 
 

“SCHEDULE A 
POSITIONS ELIGIBLE TO OPT OUT OF PARTICIPATION IN THE PLAN 

 
 Employees who hold the following titles shall be eligible to opt out of participation 
in the Plan in the manner and to the extent prescribed by Section 2.06 of the Plan. This 
Schedule A may be amended from time to time by written action of the County 
Administrator, except that an amendment to include or exclude the County Administrator 
or the Assistant County Administrator’s from this list must be adopted by the Board of 
Commissioners. 
 
County Administrator 
Assistant County Administrator 
County Clerk 
Assistant County Clerk 
County Attorney 
Finance Director 
Assistant Finance Director 
Human Resources Director 
Assistant Human Resources Director 
Tax Director 
Registration and Elections Supervisor 
Assistant Registration and Elections Supervisor 
Facilities Management Director 
Assistant Facilities Management Director 

44

Item 9b.



- 3 - 

Library Director 
Assistant Library Director 
Public Works Director 
Assistant Public Works Director 
Solid Waste/Landfill Director 
Public Information Officer 
Emergency Medical Services Director 
Assistant Emergency Medical Services Director 
Sheriff 
Chief Deputy Sheriff 
Chief Jailer Sheriff 
Assistant Chief Jailer Sheriff 
Chief of Police 
Assistant Chief of Police 
District Attorney 
Chief Public Defender 
Coroner 
Probate Court Judge 
Associate Judge 
Chief Magistrate Court Judge 
Magistrate Court Judge 
State Court Judge 
Clerk of Court” 
 

4. 
 

 The Employer hereby revokes the provision of its resolution of October 16, 2023, 
directing that the Assistant County Administrator’s contributions to the Plan be withdrawn and 
credited to a defined contribution plan. 
 

5. 

Except as specifically amended herein, the terms of the Plan shall continue in full force 

and effect. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County has caused 
this Amendment Two to be executed by its Chairman this ____ day of   , 2024. 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF DOUGHERTY COUNTY 
 
 
 
By:   
  Chairman 

45

Item 9b.



A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION FOR APPROVAL OF THE CHANGE OF DOUGHERTY COUNTY’S 

RETIREMENT LIFE INSURANCE (DEATH BENEFIT) FROM LINCOLN FINANCIAL 

TO SECURIAN; REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN 

CONFLICT HEREWITH;  

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

  

 WHEREAS, the Retirement Fund Committee recommends the change of Dougherty 

County’s Retirement Life Insurance (Death Benefit) from Lincoln Financial to Securian;  

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, Georgia has considered 

and is hereby desirous of approving the change of Dougherty County’s Retirement Life Insurance 

(Death Benefit) from Lincoln Financial to Securian as recommended by the Retirement Fund 

Committee; 

 

 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty 

County, Georgia and its hereby resolved by authority of same as follows: 

 

 SECTION I      The recommended the change of Dougherty County’s Retirement Life 

Insurance (Death Benefit) from Lincoln Financial to Securian is hereby approved and adopted and 

the Dougherty County Chairman along with any other appropriate Dougherty County staff are 

hereby authorized to execute any and all documents necessary to the full implementation of the 

same. 

 

 SECTION II    All Resolutions or parts of Resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

  

 This the 6th day of May, 2024.   

       BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 

       DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

 

       BY:______________________________ 

           Lorenzo L. Heard, Chairman 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_______________________________ 

County Clerk 

  

46

Item 9c.



47

Item 9c.



48

Item 9c.



49

Item 9d.



  GEORGIA EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AND HOMELAND SECURITY AGENCY 
   

 

 

  

 

 

 

Post Office Box 18055 •  Atlanta, Georgia 30316-0055   

(404) 635-7000 •  Toll Free in Georgia 1-800-TRY-GEMA • gema.ga.gov 

BRIAN P. KEMP 

GOVERNOR 
 
 

 

JAMES C. STALLINGS 

DIRECTOR 
 

 

 

March 11, 2024 

 

 

Honorable Lorenzo L. Heard 

Chairman 

Dougherty County Board of Commissioners  

222 Pine Avenue 

Albany, Georgia 31701 
 

Dear Commissioner Heard, 
 

On behalf of Governor Brian Kemp, it is my pleasure to inform you that a Hazard Mitigation 

Grant Program (HMGP) Award has been approved by the Federal Emergency Management Agency.  

The grant will be used to update the Dougherty County Multi-Jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation Plan to 

meet the federal requirements of the Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000.  The total approved cost is 

$40,485.00 with a federal share of $36,436.50, a state share of $1,619.40, a local share of $2,429.10, 

and Subrecipient Management cost of $2,334.30.      

 

These funds are subject to the execution of the enclosed Recipient-Subrecipient Agreement. 

Please keep in mind that your current Hazard Mitigation Plan will expire on October 12, 2026. The 

end date of this grant is May 2, 2026. In order to keep your current plan active and meet the end date 

of this grant, please submit an initial draft to your assigned Hazard Mitigation Planner at least six 

months prior to the earliest of either the plan expiration date or the grant end date.  

 

Please sign and return the agreement, and a fully executed copy will be returned to you 

later for your files. 

 

Thank you for your commitment to protect Georgia Citizens.  I appreciate your efforts to ensure 

that Georgia continues to be a safer place for us to live and raise our families.  By working together, 

we are continuing to reduce the impacts caused by natural hazards.  Should you have any questions 

regarding this grant, please contact Stephen Clark, Hazard Mitigation Manager, at (404) 635-4573.   

 

 Sincerely, 

 

 

 James C. Stallings     

 

ap/rl 

Enclosures 

cc:  Cedric Scott, Director 

   Dougherty County Emergency Management Agency 

  Frank Maneer, Area Coordinator 

  Georgia Emergency Management and Homeland Security Agency 

for,

50

Item 9d.



 

 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION FOR APPROVAL TO TRANSFER APPROXIMATELY 0.85± ACRES 

LOCATED AT 2419 SYLVESTER HWY TO THE ALBANY-DOUGHERTY COUNTY 

LAND BANK; REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN 

CONFLICT HEREWITH;  

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

WHEREAS, the Albany-Dougherty County Land Bank (“Land Bank”) was established 

for the public purpose of returning land which is in nonrevenue-generating, nontax-producing 

status to an effective utilization; and 

 

WHEREAS, Dougherty County presently owns 0.85± acres of unutilized land located on 

2419 Sylvester Hwy, Albany, Georgia 31705, as shown in the Agreement Between Dougherty 

County, Georgia and the Albany-Dougherty County Landbank (the “Agreement”) attached hereto, 

and incorporated herein by reference (the “Property”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the Dougherty County, Georgia Board of Commissioners desires to convey 

the Property described in the Agreement to the Land Bank, with the instruction to sell said Property 

for redevelopment; and 

 

WHEREAS, in accordance with the Agreement, the Land Bank shall be authorized to 

receive a total commission not to exceed 10% of the net sale’s proceeds, plus reimbursement of 

costs for any necessary title work or surveys, with the balance of the proceeds from the sale of the 

Property to be paid to Dougherty County; and 

 

WHEREAS, the transfer of this Property will enable the Land Bank to advance its mission 

of development and redevelopment of land in Dougherty County; 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Dougherty County, Georgia Board of 

Commissioners and it is hereby so resolved by the authority of the same as follows: 

 

SECTION I The Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, Georgia are hereby 

authorized to convey the Property to the Land Bank, the conveyance of which shall be subject to 

the Agreement attached hereto, and incorporated herein by reference and the Dougherty County 

Chairman is hereby authorized to execute any and all other documents necessary to the full 

implementation of said conveyance. 

 

 SECTION II All Resolutions or parts of Resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

 

 

[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE] 

51

Item 9e.



 

This the 6th day of May, 2024. 

        

       BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 

       DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

 

       BY:______________________________ 

           Lorenzo L. Heard, Chairman 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_______________________________ 

County Clerk

52

Item 9e.



1 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA  

AND THE ALBANY-DOUGHERTY COUNTY LAND BANK 

  

 

STATE OF GEORGIA “2419 Sylvester Hwy—0.85± Acre Parcel” 

COUNTY OF DOUGHERTY 

 

 

This AGREEMENT, by and among Dougherty County, Georgia (hereinafter “County”) 

and the Albany-Dougherty County Land Bank (hereinafter “Land Bank”) (County and Land Bank 

referred to as “the Parties”), is agreed upon and entered into this _____ day of ____________, 

20_____. 

WHEREAS, it is the mission of the Land Bank to return nonrevenue-generating and 

nontax-producing land to effective utilization, development and redevelopment;  

WHEREAS, the County desires to sell a certain 0.85± acre parcel of property located at 

2419 Sylvester Highway, being tax parcel 0000J/00001/01N (hereinafter the “Property”), with said 

description of the Property being identified on that plat of survey dated October 7, 1982, and 

recorded in the records of the Clerk of the Superior Court of Dougherty County at Book 689, Page 

726, with a copy of said description thereof attached hereto at Exhibit A, and incorporated herein 

by reference; and 

WHEREAS, the County has agreed to transfer this Property to the Land Bank for the 

purpose of enabling the Land Bank to facilitate the sale of the Property to potential purchaser(s) 

that would likely create an effective revenue-generating and tax-producing use of the Property; 

and 

WHEREAS, the transfer of this Property will enable the Land Bank to advance its mission 

of returning nonrevenue-generating and nontax-producing land to effective utilization in 

Dougherty County, Georgia; and 

WHEREAS, the purpose of this Agreement is to advance the beneficial relationships 

between the Parties to carry out their respective responsibilities in an effective and efficient 

manner; 

THEREFORE, IN WITNESS WHEREOF, and in consideration of the foregoing 

premises, the Parties enter into this Agreement and agree as follows: 

1. The Land Bank and the County agree to the following: 

a. The County will transfer the Property to the Land Bank. 

53

Item 9e.



2 

b. The Land Bank will facilitate the sale of the Property to potential purchaser(s) 

that would return the property to a revenue-generating and tax-producing use. 

  c. Upon the sale of the Property, the Land Bank will receive an administrative fee 

for its services in the amount of ten percent (10%) of the net sales proceeds 

from the sale of the Property. The remaining ninety percent (90%) of the net 

proceeds from the sale of the Property will be transferred to the County. For 

purposes of this Agreement, the net sales proceeds from the sale of the Property 

shall mean and include that amount of funds remaining after the payment by 

the Land Bank of any costs or expenses incurred by the Land Bank and 

associated with the transfer, holding, maintenance, listing and/or marketing of 

the Property, attorney fees, title reports, appraisals, insurance, postage costs, 

recording of legal documents, property maintenance, and marketing of the 

Property. The County Attorney shall be required to review and approve a 

summary of the proposed disbursement of funds prior to the closing for the sale 

of the Properly. 

 2. Compliance with Applicable Law. The County and the Land Bank shall comply 

with federal, state and local laws. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of 

the State of Georgia. The Parties agree that jurisdiction and venue for any dispute 

arising under this Agreement shall be in any state or federal court of competent 

jurisdiction located in Dougherty County, Georgia. 

 3. Indemnification of the Land Bank. The County shall defend, indemnify, and hold 

harmless the Land Bank, its officers, employees, agents, attorneys, consultants, and 

independent contractors, except as to intentional wrongful acts and gross 

negligence, from and against all liabilities, special, incidental, consequential, 

punitive, and all other cost and expense (including reasonable attorney’s fees) 

arising out of or in connection with this Agreement. 

 4. Indemnification of the County, The Land Bank shall defend, indemnify, and hold 

harmless the County, its officers, employees, agents, attorneys, consultants, and 

independent contractors, except as to intentional wrongful acts and gross 

negligence, from and against all liabilities, special, incidental, consequential, 

punitive, and all other cost and expense (including reasonable attorney’s fees) 

54

Item 9e.



3 

arising out of or in connection with this Agreement. 

5. Termination. This Agreement may be terminated by either party for any reason and 

termination of such shall be effective upon thirty (30) days written notice to the other 

Party. If this Agreement is terminated prior to the sale of the Property, the Land 

Bank shall convey the subject Property to the County or its designee. 

6. Non-Assignable. Neither Party shall assign any obligation it incurs in this 

Agreement without the written consent of the other Party. 

7. Severability, Should any part of this Agreement be invalidated or otherwise 

rendered null and void, the remainder of this Agreement shall remain in full force 

and effect. 

WHEREFORE, the Parties, having read and understood the terms of this Agreement, do 

hereby agree to such terms by the execution of the signatures below. 

 

 

On Behalf of Dougherty County: 

 

 

By: ___________________________________  _____________________ 

      Lorenzo L. Heard, Chairman  Date 

 

 

Attest:  ________________________________  _____________________ 

   Jawahn Ware, County Clerk  Date 

 

 

On Behalf of the Albany-Dougherty County Land Bank 

 

 

By: ___________________________________   _____________________ 

      Authorized Signatory of Lank Bank  Date 

 

 

Attest: _________________________________   _____________________ 

 ____________________ [Print Name]  Date 

 

 

 

 

 

 

55

Item 9e.



4 

EXHIBIT A 

 

All that tract or parcel of land lying and being in part of Land Lot 162, First Land District, Albany, 

Dougherty County, Georgia and being more particularly described as follows: 

 

Commence at the intersection of the southeast right of way of Cordele Road at the center line of 

Clarke Avenue extended; from this point go along the southeast right of way of the Cordele Road 

south 39 degrees 06 minutes west for a distance of 1,603.41 feet to the east line of the property of 

the First State Bank and Trust Company; from this point go along the east line of the property of 

First State Bank and Trust Company south 01 degree 30 minutes 32 seconds east for a distance of 

560.85 feet to the north right of way of the Sylvester Road, also being U.S. Highway 82, said point 

being marked by an iron reinforcing rod at the POINT OF BEGINNING. From this point of 

beginning go along the east property line of the property of First State Bank and Trust Company 

north 01 degree 30 minutes 32 seconds west for a distance of 320.98 feet to an iron pin; thence go 

south 46 degrees 49 minutes 02 seconds east for a distance of 224.50 feet to an iron pin; thence go 

south 01 degree 41 minutes 04 seconds east for a distance of 144.21 feet to an iron pin on the north 

right of way of U.S. Highway 82; thence go along the curved right of way at US, Highway 82, the 

chord of which being south 81 degrees 45 minutes 57 seconds west  for a distance of 161.15 feet 

to the POINT OF BEGINNING. Said tract contains 37,098 square feet or 0.8516 acre. The above 

described property is in accordance with a map or plat of said property dated October 7, 1982 and 

titled the Krystal Company Topographical Survey prepared by Marbury Engineering Company; 

said property being the same as that described in warranty deed from Junction Associates to The 

Krystal Company, dated January 20, 1983, recorded in Deed Book 704, Page 726, Dougherty 

County land records. 

 

Together with the rights and privileges appurtenant to the above described property under the 

Declaration of, Rights, Restrictions and Cross Easements dated March 8, 1982 and recorded in 

Deed Book 689, Page 537 in the office of the Clerk of Superior Court of Dougherty County, 

Georgia. 

 

 

 

56

Item 9e.



Phase I would include: 
 
Splashpad Area Demolition 

• Remove all furniture and fixtures. 
• Remove all mechanical equipment. 
• Ensure all areas safe and secured. 
• Install signage related to the redevelopment of the park. 

 
Design Phase 

• Complete surveys, soil testing, and other site services as required. 
• Provide design concept through architectural and other professional services. 
• Facilitate gathering input from the community and stakeholders. 
• Provide updates and progress reports to the Commission and community. 
• Secure final approval for the design from the Commission and appropriate Artesian 

Alliance governing boards. 
 
The first phase is anticipated to take up to 12 months funding. All efforts would be made to 
expedite the project’s completion, maintain public access to the park, and ensure the park users 
safety. 
 
Upon the approval of the concept and secured funding, we would begin the construction document 
phase and begin initial site preparation work. 
 
 

57

Item 9f.



58

Item 9g.



 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION FOR APPROVAL, ACCEPTANCE AND EXECUTION OF TWO 

PERMANENT SEWER EASEMENTS TO THE CITY OF ALBANY FOR THE 

PURPOSE OF ALLOWING THE CITY TO ERECT, CONSTRUCT, INSTALL 

OPERATE, INSPECT AND REPAIR SEWER INFRASTRUCTURE THEREIN; 

REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT 

HEREWITH;  

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, Georgia has considered 

and is hereby desirous of approving and executing two certain Permanent Sewer Easements to the 

City of Albany for the purpose of allowing the City to erect, construct, install, operate, inspect and 

repair sewer infrastructure therein; 

 

 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty 

County, Georgia and it is hereby resolved by authority of same as follows: 

 

 SECTION I      The two attached Permanent Sewer Easements to the City of Albany are 

hereby approved and adopted and the Dougherty County Chairman is hereby authorized to execute 

any and all documents necessary to the full implementation of said Permanent Sewer Easements. 

 

 SECTION II    All Resolutions or parts of Resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

  

 This the 6th day of May, 2024. 

        

       BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 

       DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

 

       BY:______________________________ 

           Lorenzo L. Heard, Chairman 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_______________________________ 

County Clerk 

 

 

 

59

Item 9g.



60

Item 9g.



61

Item 9g.



62

Item 9g.



63

Item 9g.



64

Item 9g.



65

Item 9g.



66

Item 9g.



67

Item 9g.



68

Item 10a.



69

Item 10a.



70

Item 10a.



71

Item 10a.



72

Item 10a.



73

Item 10a.



74

Item 10a.



75

Item 10a.



76

Item 10a.



77

Item 10a.



78

Item 10a.



79

Item 10a.



80

Item 10a.



81

Item 10a.



82

Item 10a.



83

Item 10a.



84

Item 10a.



85

Item 10a.



86

Item 10a.



87

Item 10a.



88

Item 10a.



89

Item 10a.



90

Item 10a.



91

Item 10a.



92

Item 10a.



93

Item 10a.



94

Item 10a.



95

Item 10a.



96

Item 10a.



97

Item 10a.



98

Item 10a.



99

Item 10a.



100

Item 10a.



101

Item 10a.



102

Item 10a.



103

Item 10a.



104

Item 10a.



105

Item 10a.


	Top
	Item 5a.	Minutes
	2024.04.01 Minutes Regular
	2024.04.08 Minutes Work
	2024.04.08 Minutes SCM

	Item 7a.	Zoning_Crosby
	Zoning a_Crosby Recap
	Zoning a_Crosby

	Item 8a.	Purchase a_SO Vehicle
	Purchase a_SO Vehicle

	Item 8b.	Purchase b_FM Vehicle
	Purchase b_FM Vehicle

	Item 8c.	Purchase c_FM AHU
	Purchase c_Health Dept AHU

	Item 8d.	Purchase d_Central Square Paint
	Purchase d_Central Square 1st Floor Paint

	Item 9a.	Other a_TJC WBL
	Other a_TJC MOU Resolution
	Other a_TJC MOU

	Item 9b.	Other b_Retirement Fund Amendment
	Other b_Retirement Plan Resolution
	Other b_Retirement Plan amendment

	Item 9c.	Other c_Life Insurance Change
	Other c_Life Insurance Resolution
	Other c_Life Insurance

	Item 9d.	Other d_FEMA Grant
	Other d_FEMA Internal
	Other d_FEMA

	Item 9e.	Other e_Property Transfer
	Other e_Land Bank Transfer Resolution
	Other e_Land Bank Transfer

	Item 9f.	Other f_Festival Springs
	Other f_FRQ

	Item 9g.	Other g_Easement
	Other g_Picture
	Other g_Sewer Resolution
	Other g_Permanent Sewer Easement 1
	Other g_Permanent Sewer Easement 2

	Item 10a.	Board appointment
	Board Appt Booklet

	Bottom

